**RECEIVED**

**Feb 17 2026**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE COMMON PLEAS COURT

Clifton B. Newman, Common Pleas Fifth Judicial Circuit Judge

---

**Appellate Case No. 2024-001835**

Common Pleas Case No. 2022-CP-40-00027

---

South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control,  
DOES 1 through X, inclusive:  
and ROE Business Entities 1 through X, inclusive

Respondent

v.

Teresa McWilliams

Appellant, *pro se*

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

Teresa McWilliams  
105 Arborgate Circle  
Columbia, SC 29212  
(803) 530-4738  
Appellant, *pro se*

Meredith Seibert, Esquire  
P.O. Box 1486

## Statement of Issues on Appeal

Appellant begins by stating that she has filed a Motion to Request an Exception to Rule 607 Regarding Audio and Video Copies Transcripts, filed with the Court on February 7, 2025, and she also has filed a Motion For Continuance Due to Delay of Transcript, filed with the Court on February 14, 2025, because the August 8, 2023, transcript received by Appellant on January 23, 2025, mentions the previous hearing held in Judge Jean Toal's courtroom on November 11, 2022, and is pertinent to this brief. Appellant had not received a ruling on these Motions at the time of filing the Initial Brief.

However, since the Appellant *pro se* is representing herself and fears that her appeal will be thrown out if delayed, she continues her argument as best she can in the pages that follow without the transcript of the hearing held on November 30, 2022, which is referenced in the transcript of the hearing held on August 8, 2023, upon which the Order is based.

Following are the issues that the Appellant is presenting in this brief:

Issue One: Order alleges there was no Revision of Amended Complaint; however, there was a revision filed Jan. 2, 2024.

Issue Two: Order alleges there were no factual allegations in the Amended Complaint; however, there were. Also, Appellant was denied access to some factual evidence in the November 11, 2022, Judge Jean Toal's hearing by being denied discovery, for which Appellant had not yet received a transcript and had requested a Motion for Continuance that had not yet been answered by the court at the time of filing the Initial Brief.

Issue Three: Order alleges there is no common law; however, South Carolina Code of Laws, SECTION 1-13-80 applies.

Issue Four: Order alleges Appellant failed to demonstrate her age; however, she did.

Issue Five: There were technology disturbances in the Virtual Courtroom that deprived Appellant of a fair hearing by not allowing effective communication.

Issue Six: Order alleges Appellant's complaint was not filed in a timely manner; however, it was filed on Jan. 4, 2022, within allotted response time.

## Statement of the Case

Teresa McWilliams (Appellant) was terminated by South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control (Respondent) on August 5, 2020, after a series of Warning of Substandard Performance (WOSP) meetings. Appellant at the time was 61 years old. Appellant's Supervisor presented allegations that Appellant argued were contrived and false and that were veiled accusations against the Appellant based on her age. Appellant can demonstrate with hard evidence (emails, dated purchase requests, etc.) that the allegations were invalid. (Some proofs must be acquired through discovery, which Judge Jean Toal denied Appellant in the November 11, 2022, hearing (which is the hearing for which Appellant had not yet received the transcript and had filed a Motion for Continuance at the time of filing of the Initial Brief). Appellant, nevertheless, created a number of solutions in response to her Supervisor's complaints, which were rejected. Appellant was told in the WOSP meetings that she would be given a Work Improvement Plan, but she was not. Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) response from Respondent February 17, 2023, indicates that discrimination was a likely catalyst

in many of the terminations that year (which was the year of the COVID pandemic). There was a 50% increase in terminations that year, and most of them affected employees in protected categories. Appellant argued she was being retaliated against by Supervisor, because Appellant reported to Respondent Compliance Department that there were monies hidden and not being distributed in a grant Appellant had been given to oversee by her Supervisor. Appellant argued Supervisor could construct no valid reason for Appellant's termination, so Supervisor used age discriminatory language to persuade Human Resources to assist in Appellant's termination. After a WebEx hearing on August 8, 2023, Appellant received an Order dated September 30, 2024, that Respondent's Motion to Dismiss had been granted; however, the Order made a number of statements that were in error. In addition, there were technology issues in that WebEx hearing that denied Appellant an honest and equitable hearing. The date of the service of the notice of appeal was November 8, 2024.

## **Standard of Review.**

Issues 1 – 4 are reviewable for clear error

Issue 5 is reviewable for questions of law, as to why a pro se complainant cannot request an in-person hearing or, in the alternative, be offered a room set-up by Court IT that would be technology-ready for a WebEx hearing

## Argument

**Issue One: Order alleges there was no Revision of Amended Complaint; however, a revision was filed Jan. 2, 2024.**

Order (R. p. 19, lines 6-7) states that Appellant “filed no other amended complaint or revisions to her December 30, 2023 amended complaint”; however, Appellant did file an addendum to the original complaint with the court on January 2, 2024 (R. pp. 120-127). That addendum demonstrated that Respondent used termination-for-cause during the COVID pandemic as an improper method of reduction-in-force and that Respondent’s actions had a disparate effect on employees over the age 40, as well as on women and minorities. This data comes from a Freedom of Information Act response that came from Respondent on February 17, 2023 (R. pp. 126-127). During the pandemic year, Respondent terminations-for-cause increased more than 50% and focused on employees in protected categories. That statistical data, directly from Respondent, demonstrates as follows:

Based on the Freedom of Information Request #870955 (R. pp. 126-127), SC DHEC Kristen Keller's response dated February 17, 2023, revealed the following age and racial discrimination in the current Warning of Substandard Performance (WOSP) procedure, revealing that the WOSP is being used to hide blatant discrimination:

1. In 3 years' time (2018-2020), a DHEC employee over the age of 40 was terminated 13 times more often than a younger employee via the WOSP.
2. During the years 2019-2020, the number of employees retained from the WOSP termination process was less than 3%. That is a sad statistic for a process that is supposed to be a warning to strengthen performance and avoid termination, suggesting the WOSP is merely a cover for discrimination and unethical termination.
3. DHEC can provide 0 (zero) Work Improvement Plans (WIPs) offered to those employees, even though Appellant herself was told in an initial meeting by DHEC HR representative Arlene Posey that Appellant would be offered one and it would be clear and easy to achieve.

4. During those same 2 years, a female was almost 3 times more likely to be terminated as a male—for every one male terminated, 3 females were terminated.

5. During those same 2 years, a non-white employee was 25% more likely to be terminated than a white employee—adjusted for population difference, that percentage rises to 50%.

If the above were not monstrous enough, those employees were denied unemployment benefits and were blacklisted from employment DURING THE PANDEMIC YEAR.

During the pandemic year, DHEC terminations-for-cause increased more than 50%, suggesting that DHEC, during a year of budget restraints (when expenditures were frozen for travel, purchasing, and hiring), used termination-for-cause as an inappropriate method of reduction-in-force.

**According to the South Carolina Code of Laws, SECTION 1-13-80.**

Unlawful employment practices; exceptions. (A) It is an unlawful employment practice for an employer: (1) to fail or refuse to hire, bar, discharge from employment, or otherwise discriminate against an individual with respect to the individual's compensation or terms, conditions, or privileges of employment because of the individual's race, religion, color, sex, age, national origin, or disability;

In addition, The South Carolina Human Affairs Commission, on their website in their explanation of **South Carolina Code of Laws, SECTION 1-13-80**, delineate that: An employment policy or practice that applies to everyone, regardless of age, can be illegal if it has a negative impact on applicants or employees age 40 or older.

Appellant argues the Order to Dismiss, by the Order's own statement (R. p. 21, lines 12-15), ignored this information and also ignored that disparate effect is proof enough for an age discrimination case. Therefore, Appellant should be allowed to present her case to a jury, as she requested.

**Issue Two: Order alleges there were no factual allegations in the Amended Complaint; however, there were. Also, Appellant was denied access to some factual evidence by being denied discovery in the November 11, 2022 hearing Judge Jean Toal's hearing, for which Appellant had not yet received a transcript and had requested a Motion for Continuance that had not yet been decided at the time of filing the Initial Brief.**

The Order's alleging that the original Complaint "lacked any factual support" (R. p. 8, lines 1-14) suggests that disparate treatment does not serve as factual support. In addition to the disparate treatment demonstrated above, the Appellants' Complaint did include factual allegations. Although the allegations (R. pp. 36-83) are complex, they are nonetheless factual and legitimate.

(a) Appellant was assigned administration of a grant (R. p. 31, lines 12-34) and (R. pp 56-57) which had \$5,394.45 written into the grant that was not being distributed, and after numerous attempts asking her supervisor and the grant writer to explain, finally reported the issue to compliance, as instructed in the employee handbook. A copy of this grant

showing the hidden monies was a part of the Amended Complaint.

However, Appellant is prevented from demonstrating the monies were not distributed, because she was denied discovery by Judge Jean Toal in the November 11, 2022, hearing (which Appellant had not received transcript (R. pp 106 – 112) and had filed a Motion for Continuance with this Court that had not yet been decided at the time of filing the Initial Brief), and the FOIA request Appellant made to Respondent for this information was, at the time of filing the Initial Brief, over 188 days past due (R. pp. 107 – 112).

(b) Appellant's Supervisor was embarrassed by the above scrutiny by the Compliance Department and began to harass Appellant. Since Appellant had done nothing wrong, Appellant's Supervisor had no reason to terminate Appellant and began to contrive accusations (R. pp. 36-54) that were rooted in discriminatory views of people of age (R. p 55). Appellant did prove in her Amended Complaint that she did, in the Warning of Substandard Performance meetings, prove that the accusations were false, using hard, factual evidence ( R. pp. 36-54), and did prove that the language that was discriminatory of age was accepted by Respondent Human Resources without any evidence of truth, as follows:

[1] Supervisor accused Appellant of BEING SLOW to order a tape recorder for panel meetings (R. p. 40 lines 14-22) and (R. p. 41). Respondent Human Resources accepted that discriminatory accusation of Appellant's BEING SLOW, even though Appellant demonstrated she presented the request for a tape recorder to the manager in charge of the panel meetings, who chose not to sign the request until the Supervisor returned. Also, no tape recorder was ever ordered, because due to the pandemic, the panel was already meeting virtually and recording the virtual meetings within the software (R. p. 53, lines 18-22). This accusation was pure harassment. Appellant requires discovery to demonstrate that there exists no purchase request for the recorder, which was denied by Judge Jean Toal in the November 11, 2022, hearing, the transcript of which Appellant had not yet received and had filed a Motion of Continuance with this Court that has not yet been decided at the time of filing the Initial Brief. Appellant does have factual evidence that Respondent was already recording virtual panel meetings via the software of the TEAMS meetings, such that the complaint about ordering a tape recorder was contrived and ridiculous (R. p. 69)

[2] Supervisor with Manager Neal Martin met with Supervisor's supervisor Virginie Daguise in an effort to terminate Appellant for wearing a tank top underneath another item of clothing. (Appellant added the tank top underneath her garment before leaving home because the garment was puckering.) Appellant heard Manager Neal Martin discussing this meeting with another employee outside Appellant's cubicle. Manager Neal Martin used the phrase "like a dickie." (According to the dictionary, a "dickie" is a garment worn under another garment.) Manager Neal Martin stated that Supervisor was told she could not terminate Appellant, but would have to deal with the matter as a dress code infraction. Supervisor never spoke to Appellant about a dress code infraction after learning it was not a terminatable offence. When Appellant made a complaint to SCDHEC Human Resources Patrice Witt that Appellant was suffering harassment and gave the above incident as example, Patrice Witt immediately began defending Supervisor without even asking Supervisor about the incident. Manager Neal Martin's statements are hard evidence. Appellant was denied discovery to obtain Manager Neal Martin's testimony by Judge Jean Toal in the November 11, 2022, hearing, the transcript of which had not yet been received by the

Appellant and for which the Appellant had filed a Motion of Continuance with this Court that had not yet been decided at the time of filing the Initial Brief.

[3] There was a conflict of interest in Human Resources Patrice Witt handling Appellant's Warning of Substandard Performance meetings, because Patrice Witt had applied for a job under Appellant's Supervisor. Patrice Witt's application for that job is hard evidence. Appellant requires discovery for proof of this application, which Appellant was denied by Judge Jean Toal in the November 11, 2022, hearing for which the Appellant has not yet received the transcript and for which Appellant had filed a Motion for Continuance with this Court that had not yet been decided at the time of filing the Initial Brief.

[4] Supervisor accused Appellant of BEING SLOW, when Supervisor was intentionally withholding information that Appellant needed to fulfill a task (R. p. 36, lines 12-14) and (R. p. 39, lines 17-19) and (R. p. 50, lines 1-14) and (R. p. 72) and (R. pp. 75-80). This was harassment. Emails to this effect were submitted and are hard evidence.

[5] Supervisor accused Appellant of MAKING A MISTAKE in the minutes. Despite numerous requests to be shown the mistake, Supervisor never presented the document (R. p. 36, lines 17-25) and (R. p.41, lines 14-17).

[6] Supervisor accused Appellant of BEING SLOW in submitting an invoice (R. p. 37, lines 3-10) and (R. p.44, lines 24-32) and R. p. 50, lines 15-30) and R. p. 51, lines 1-18). The invoice was submitted by its deadline. It was not submitted even sooner, because Supervisor refused to give Appellant the contract guidelines for Appellant to make sure invoice was within the guidelines. There was no negative consequence, because the invoice was submitted on time. These emails and submissions are hard, factual evidence. Appellant requires her right of discovery which was denied by Judge Jean Toal in the November 11, 2022, hearing, the transcript of which had not yet been received by Appellant and for which a Motion of Continuance had been requested from the Court which had not yet been decided at the time of filing the Initial Brief.

[7] Supervisor accused Appellant of FORGETTING that Budget Analyst needed to be in a meeting he was not in (R. p. 37, lines 11-

17). Appellant had notified the Supervisor well before the meeting that Budget Analyst was on vacation and asked should the meeting be postponed. This email is hard evidence. As above, Appellant was denied discovery.

[8] Supervisor accused Appellant of FORGETTING to sign up a new employee for a class (R. p.37, lines 29-32). Employee had already signed herself up for the class. The signup sheet and her attendance are hard evidence. There was no negative consequence. As above, Appellant requires her right of discovery for this proof.

[9] Supervisor accused Appellant of BEING SLOW to submit a PCAS document. The document was submitted on time before its deadline and there was no negative consequence. The timely submission of the document is hard evidence. As above, Appellant requires her right of discovery for this proof.

[10] Supervisor accused Appellant of BEING SLOW to forward writing samples sent by an interviewee (R. p. 38, lines 7-13). The samples were sent two minutes after Appellant received them from interviewee R. p.

83). These emails are hard evidence. As above, Appellant needs to be allowed her right to discovery.

[11] Supervisor reprimanded Appellant and accused her of NOT BEING ABLE TO FOLLOW INSTRUCTIONS after Appellant offered to do the paperwork for a new hire's laptop and phone (R. p. 52, lines 1-4) and (R. p. 67). Then, same Supervisor sent an email asking Appellant to do the paperwork for the new hire's laptop and phone. These emails are hard evidence.

[12] Supervisor accused Appellant of NOT KNOWING HOW EMAIL WORKS (R. p. 39, lines 34-39) and (R. p 52, lines 5-16), because Appellant received an email without an attachment and then asked the sender for the attachment. That email without an attachment is hard evidence. Appellant requires her right to discovery, as stated above.

[13] Supervisor reprimanded Appellant for FORGETTING how many monitors she was told to order and ordering an "extra" monitor (R. p.40, lines 1-5) and (R. p. 52, lines 21-23). Appellant ordered the number instructed by Supervisor, and one of the employees refused to accept his. The order form for the monitors and the number of employees on staff are

hard evidence. As above, Appellant was denied her right of discovery, and her FOIA request was 188 days overdue for response at the time of filing the Initial Brief.

[14] Supervisor accused Appellant of BEING SLOW about getting an answer regarding "The Good Behavior Game." (R. p. 40, lines 23-26) Supervisor had already spoken directly with the person with the answer (R. pp 73-74). (The person with answer did not respond to the Appellant, because he had already spoken directly with Supervisor.) Supervisor was withholding information and harassing Appellant (R. pp. 76-77). These emails and their dates are direct evidence.

[15] Supervisor accused Appellant of BEING SLOW to switch virtual meetings from SKYPE to TEAMS (R. p. 40, lines 27-32). Supervisor would not approve the switch. These emails are hard evidence. (And there was no negative consequence, the switch was made with plenty of time for the meeting.) As above, Appellant needs to be allowed discovery.

Without question, all this evidence is minutia and unpleasant to wade through, but it is factual evidence, and Appellant should be able to produce this evidence before a jury, as Appellant has requested.

**Issue Three: Order alleges there is no common law; however, South Carolina Code of Laws, SECTION 1-13-80 applies**

Order (R. p. 7, lines 10-12) states that Appellant “asserts that she was retaliated against for embarrassing her supervisor by questioning a grant discrepancy . . . Because there is no common law case of action for age discrimination and retaliation ...” Appellant argues that there is enough proof regarding the use of age discriminatory language in the WOSP meetings, with no validity to the actual claims, such that the inflammatory discriminatory language is enough to prove age discrimination in and of itself, and Appellant should be allowed to present her case to a jury, as she has requested, based on the SC Humann Affairs Law found in **South Carolina Code of Laws, SECTION 1-13-80.**

**Issue Four: Order alleges Appellant failed to demonstrate her age; however, she did.**

Order (R. p. 7, lines 16-17) states that Appellant “fails to allege her age at the time of her termination.” However, Appellant did provide, in the attachments to the Amended Complaint, a copy of her drivers license showing February 17, 1959, as her birth date. And Appellant did provide the date of termination as August 5, 2020. Appellant was 61 years old on the date of termination. Appellant’s date of birth was on the attachments’ page 99 and was also in Appellant’s personnel file via driver’s license.

Based on the errors in the Order regarding the Complaint, Appellant argues that the Order to Dismiss should be overturned and that Appellant should be allowed to present her Complaint to a jury, as she has requested.

**Issue Five: There were technology disturbances in the Virtual Courtroom that deprived Appellant of a fair hearing by not allowing effective communication.**

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