RECEIVED
Jun 25 2026
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Clifton B. Newman, Fifth Judicial Circuit
Case No.: 2022-CP-40-00027

APPELLATE CASE NO.: 2024-001835

Teresa McWilliams.....Appellant,

vs.

South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control.....Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S FINAL BRIEF

David T. Duff, Esq.
Meredith L. Seibert, Esq

DUFF FREEMAN SEIBERT, LLC
3700 Forest Drive, Suite 404
P.O. Box 1436
Columbia, South Carolina 29203
Telephone: (803) 790-0603
Facsimile: (803) 790-0605

Attorneys for Respondent

Teresa McWilliams
105 Arborgate Circle
Columbia, South Carolina 29212

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

ARGUMENT

I. **Appellant has raised new arguments for the first time on appeal, which arguments should not be considered by this Court.**

This Court must disregard new arguments raised by Appellant for the first time on appeal. Specifically, Appellant's Initial Brief raises for the first time issues regarding a full and fair opportunity to participate in a hearing on the Respondent's Motion to Dismiss Appellant's Amended Complaint, as well as arguments regarding the appropriate pleadings under consideration by the Trial Court. Lastly, Appellant's Initial Brief raises for the first time that the Trial Court would have found information and facts necessary to state a claim within unincorporated and otherwise unidentified attachments to Appellant's Amended Complaint. These arguments have not been preserved for appellate review and, therefore, are not proper for consideration or adjudication as the basis for relief.

A "great number of reported cases in South Carolina[], and more recently the appellate court rules and rules of civil procedure, have emphasized the importance and **absolute necessity** of ensuring that all issues and arguments are presented to the lower court for its consideration. Issues and arguments are preserved for appellate review **only when they are raised to and ruled on by the lower court.**" *Elam v. S.C. Dept. of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 9, 23, 602 S.E.2d 772, 779-80 (2004) (emphasis added); *see also Herron v. Century BMW*, 396 S.C. 461, 465, 719 S.E.2d 640, 642 (2011) ("It is 'axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal.'") (quoting *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998)); *Gurganious v. City of Beaufort*, 317 S.C. 481, 488, 454 S.E.2d 912, 916 (Ct. App. 1995) ("It is well settled that one cannot present and try his case on one theory and then change his theory on appeal.") (citing *McClary v. Witherspoon*, 251 S.C. 523, 164 S.E.2d 220 (1968)); *State v. Bailey*, 298 S.C. 1, 377

S.E.2d 581 (1989) (finding that a party cannot argue one ground at trial and an alternative theory on appeal); Rule 210(c), SCACR (record on appeal “**shall not . . . include matter which was not presented to the lower court . . .**”) (emphasis added). “If the [appellant] has raised an issue in the lower court, but the court fails to rule upon it, the [appellant] *must* file a motion to alter or amend the judgment in order to preserve the issue for appellate review.” *Palmetto Wildlife Extractors, LLC v. Ludy*, 435 S.C. 690, 704, 869 S.E.2d 859, 867 (Ct. App. 2022) (quoting *I ‘On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000) (emphasis added)).

Here, Appellant failed to raise or preserve any objection to proceeding with the August 8, 2023, hearing on Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss Appellant’s Amended Complaint on the grounds that technology issues impaired her right to a fair and equitable hearing, failed to previously make or raise any argument that the Amended Complaint under consideration should be one other than the December 30, 2022 submission, and failed to assert or raise any argument that she has stated a cause of action because she provide access to records, without specific reference or explanation, that could provide some information for the claim along with her Amended Complaint.

Appellant argues in her Initial Brief that she experienced technological disturbances in the virtual courtroom, preventing her from speaking intelligibly and fully during the hearing, thus denying her the opportunity for a fair and equitable hearing on the motion to dismiss her Amended Complaint. Appellant asserts that she “should have been allowed either the ability to have an in-person hearing as she requested, or the Court should provide a room with IT equipment . . . and invite the *pro se* complainant to use it if she wishes” and that any less “results in an unjust hearing.” The record establishes Appellant was well aware of how to contact the court to request changes to scheduled hearings, as demonstrated by several motions for continuance filed with the Trial Court. However, Appellant has not provided evidence, documentation, or filings indicating that Appellant

requested an in-person hearing at any point in this case or on this particular motion. Further, once the August 8, 2023, hearing commenced, Appellant made no argument or request that the hearing be held in person nor did she indicate that she was experiencing technology issues to the point that she was unable to participate fully in the arguments and hearing. Appellant stated only, “I apologize but I have an echo in my cellphone, so everything I say is being repeated in my ear” before proceeding to make several points in response to opposing counsel’s argument in support of the motion to dismiss and in support of her position that her lawsuit should be allowed to proceed. *See* August 8, 2023 Transcript p. 9-11, 13-14 (ROA p.174 ¶11-p.176 ¶20). Any issue related to Appellant’s alleged impaired participation in the August 8, 2023, hearing has not been preserved for appellate review because it was never raised before or ruled upon by the lower court; Appellant failed to make any contemporaneous objection at the trial level; and Appellant failed to file a motion to alter or amend the lower court’s judgment following issuance of the Order. “For an appellate court to review an issue, a contemporaneous objection at the trial level is required.” *State v. Thompson*, 355 S.C. 278, 288, 584 S.E.2d 143, 148 (Ct. App. 2003) (citing *State v. Hoffman*, 312 S.C. 386, 393, 440 S.E.2d 869, 873 (1994)). “[A]n objection should be sufficiently specific to bring into focus the precise nature of the alleged error so it can be reasonably understood by the trial judge.” *Id.* (quoting *State v. Prioleau*, 345 S.C. 404, 411, 548 S.E.2d 213, 216 (2001)).

Appellant has also raised for the first time on appeal that the amended complaint under consideration—a December 30, 2022, filing titled “Amended Complaint”—should include “an addendum to the original complaint” filed on January 2, 2024. On January 2, 2024, Appellant filed with the Trial Court a pleading titled “Memorandum: An Analysis of Freedom of Information Response from DHEC” (ROA pp. 243-244). Even if the Appellant intended the filing to constitute a second amended complaint, which is not clear on the face of the document, leave to amend was

not obtained from the Court nor was consent provided by Respondent. *See* Rule 15, SCRCp. In fact, the September 30, 2024 Trial Court order specifically states that “Appellant filed an Amended Complaint with the Court on December 30, 2022, prior to the issuance of the Court’s January 18, 2023 Order. [Appellant] filed no other proposed amended complaint or revisions . . .” (ROA p. 23). Respondent further notes that this filing was made almost an entire year after the Trial Court’s January 18, 2023, Order granting Appellant thirty days to file an amended complaint and almost five months after the August 8, 2023, hearing on the motion to dismiss the amended complaint. Prior to this appeal, Appellant had never argued that she was seeking or had filed further amendments to her Amended Complaint nor did she file a motion to alter or amend the lower court’s judgment following issuance of the Order to address the Court’s purported omission. Therefore, any argument that a different, supplemental, or second amended complaint should have been considered has been waived.

Lastly, in support of her position that her Amended Complaint did include the necessary facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action upon which relief may be granted, Appellant argues that the Court could have found information to support the factual averments necessary for Appellant to state a claim for age discrimination by searching the unincorporated and otherwise unidentified pages submitted at the same time as Appellant’s pleadings. When filing the December 30, 2022, Amended Complaint, Appellant also included 48 pages of miscellaneous documents, with no identification and/or only minimal reference within the Amended Complaint to just a few of those documents. However, at no point following Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss—whether as a written response/explanation or in oral arguments during August 8, 2023—did Appellant contend that the referenced documents were ancillary to and incorporated within her Amended Complaint, contained the requested missing information, and/or should be considered as part of

the motion to dismiss. As a result, the court never considered if the attachments were incorporated into the complaint and, if so, whether there was sufficient information therein. Further, Appellant filed no motion to alter or amend the September 30, 2024 Order addressing this argument. As a result, Appellant is barred from now pursuing this argument.

The above issues have not been preserved for appellate review, should be deemed wived, and should not be considered as part of this appeal.

II. The Trial Court properly concluded that Appellant failed to state a cause of action against Respondent.

Despite an opportunity to amend her original complaint, which opportunity was paired with specific directions from the Trial Court regarding the content that should be included, Appellant's December 30, 2022, Amended Complaint fails to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action upon which relief may be granted.

The Trial Court correctly noted that Appellant's Amended Complaint failed to include information necessary to state a claim against Respondent and specifically a cause of action for age discrimination. Importantly, the Trial Court recognized that the December 30, 2022, Amended Complaint lacked relevant information, including but not limited to Appellant's age (as needed to establish she fell within a protected class) and the statutory basis for her purported age-discrimination claim. (ROA p.24). The Order specifically noted that Appellant failed to provide her age at the time of her termination and, further, that her allegations were primarily based on conclusory statements that her termination was motivated by her age. (ROA p.24). Moreover, the Trial Court determined that, because there is no common law cause of action for age discrimination and retaliation, "it was incumbent upon [Appellant] to include the statutory basis for her purported claim, whether the SC Human Affairs Law (SCHAL), the Age Discrimination in Employment Act

(“ADEA”), or the Title VII of the Federal Civil Rights Act of 1964 (Title VII).” (ROA p.24). Despite a January 18, 2023, Order advising Appellant of the components Appellant needed in an Amended Complaint to survive a motion to dismiss, including specific designation of the statutory basis for the claim, Appellant’s Amended Complaint still included no such statement or reference. (ROA pp.24-25). As a result of these omissions, in whole and part, the Trial Court properly determined that Appellant failed to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action upon which relief may be granted. (ROA pp.22-25).

As part of Appellant’s Initial Brief, she asserts that the Trial Court’s conclusion that she failed to provide her age at the time of termination was incorrect because a copy of her driver’s license was included “in the attachments to the Amended Complaint,” thus allowing the Court to determine her age. *See* Appellant’s Initial Brief, p. 21. As noted above, Appellant’s argument that facts establishing a cause of action for age discrimination could have been culled from attachments filed contemporaneously with her Amended Complaint was initially raised as part of the appeal. The referenced attachments consist of 48 pages of miscellaneous documents, with no identification and/or only minimal reference or explanation within the Amended Complaint.

As an initial matter, the referenced attachments submitted to the Court on December 22, 2022 do **not** include the documents identified by Appellant in her Initial Brief, including but not limited to a copy of her driver’s license, a copy of an EEOC right to sue notice, or Appellant’s personnel file. *Compare* Appellant’s Initial Brief p.21-22, 24, with December 30, 2022 submission. Therefore, they cannot be used by the Courts as argued by Appellant. Even if Appellant had included the identified documents in the attachment, merely attaching, without further explanation, a miscellaneous hodgepodge of documents that have not been identified in any way in the Complaint, incorporated by reference in the Complaint, or have been brought to

the Trial Court's attention in some way, in the hopes the Court will conduct an aimless search for some relevant facts is not sufficient defense to a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim. Respondent acknowledges that documents or exhibits that are attached to and incorporated by reference to a complaint may be considered part and parcel of the pleading pursuant to Rule 10(c), SCRPC. However, South Carolina case law establishes that an attachment to a complaint must be clearly attached to, incorporated by reference into the complaint, and be brought to the attention of the court if it is to be considered as part of a 12(b)(6) motion. *See Burns v. Gardner*, 328 S.C. 608, 614 n.2, 493 S.E.2d 356, 359 n.2 (Ct. App. 1997) (Because [a document] was attached to and incorporated in the amended complaint, court may consider it when ruling on the defendants' motion to dismiss."); *Brazell v. Windsor*, 384 S.C. 512, 516, 682 S.E.2d 824, 826 (2009) ("Petitioners explicitly stated that [a document] was attached and incorporated by reference into the complaint. Thus, they brought the [document] to the attention of [the circuit] court and were on notice of any information contained in it."). Here, even assuming the records contained relevant facts, Plaintiff failed to identify specific documents, incorporate them into the complaint, or otherwise bring them to the Trial Court's attention.

III. Even if the matter had been properly pled with the factual allegations and information newly stated in Appellant's Initial Brief, dismissal was appropriate under the South Carolina Human Affairs Law.

Even assuming Appellant had presented an amended complaint that included the necessary factual allegations to state a claim for age discrimination, including, but not limited to statements establishing Appellant's age and/or status of member as a protected class and the statutory basis for the purposed claim, information newly provided in Appellant's Initial Brief establishes grounds for dismissal. Appellant's Initial Brief states – again, for the first time - that the South Carolina Human Affairs Law, at S.C. Code Ann. §1-13-80, is the basis for the underlying age discrimination

claim she was attempting to assert. *See* Appellant’s Initial Brief p. 5, 11, and 20. Appellant also states in that brief – again, for the first time – that the date of termination from DHEC is August 5, 2020. *See* Appellant’s Initial Brief p. 21. Based on the information provided therein, Appellant’s purported claim, even if properly pled warrants dismissal pursuant to the South Carolina Human Affair Law (SCHAL). More specifically, the SCHAL does not provide a private right of action by Appellant against Respondent and, further, any remaining claim that Appellant might otherwise have pursuant to the SCHAL is barred by the statute of limitations outlined in S.C. Code Ann. § 1-13-90(d)(6).

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